FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/22/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/22/2024 11:35 AM

Supreme	Court No.	
---------	-----------	--

Case #: 1036361

COA No. 854356

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VS Developing, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

BRMK Priest Point, LLC, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Boris Davidovskiy, WSBA #50593 BORIS DAVIDOVSKIY, P.C. 6100 219th Street SW, Suite 480 Mountlake Terrace, WA 98043 Telephone: (425) 582-5200

Email: boris@davidovskiylaw.com

Attorney for Petitioner

I. INTRODUCTION

At its heart, this case is about the rule of law and due process. There are very few things in this world that we know with absolute certainty, and the rule of law is the bedrock of American Society. Throughout most of human history, the rules by which life was governed were usually determined by force and fraud: He who had the power—whether military strength or political dominance—made the rules. A principle that itself is quite old and long predates the United States, the rule of law means laws that bind all people and that are enforced by a *system of courts*, not by mere discretionary authority.

This fundamental bedrock of our legal system is critical in *judicial* foreclosure actions where borrowers can rely on the *impartial* judge of the superior court to prevent overreaching by lenders who make it their business to obtain every advantage from the foreclosure process. But, when the legislature enacted the Deed of Trust Act ("DTA") and authorized *nonjudicial* foreclosures for the first time, the legislature vested the

trustee who must undertake *the role of the judge* as an *impartial third party* who owes a duty to both parties to ensure that the rights are protected. These rights and protections of borrowers in *nonjudicial foreclosures* can swiftly erode to zero when the trustee—as here—has *fiduciary* obligations to the lender and otherwise lacks impartiality, neutrality, and independence.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

VS Developing seeks review of the decision below.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

VS Developing seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision filed on September 30, 2024 (*VS Developing, LLC v. BRMK Priest Point, LLC*, 85435-6-I, 2024 WL 4360596, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 30, 2024)). The Court of Appeals denied the Motion for Reconsideration on October 23, 2024.

¹ Appx. A.

² Appx. B.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Because the trustee was not impartial, neutral, or independent and because there was an actual and impermissible conflict on the part of the trustee, the trustee lacked legal authority under Washington law to proceed with the *contested* nonjudicial foreclosure, rendering it void.
- 2. Because the Trustee's Sale is void, even though VS Developing did not enjoin the trustee sale under RCW 61.24.130, no waiver of the right to obtain relief against the void sale exists. *Cox v. Helenius*, 103 Wn.2d 383 (1985).
- 3. Genuine issues of material fact precluded dismissal of the claims on summary judgment, and, in fact, VS Developing supported the claims against Respondents for their role in the wrongfully conducted non-judicial foreclosure.
- 4. Because VS Developing's action was not "settled, discontinued, or abated" when the trial court ordered the removal of VS Developing's Lis Pendens, the trial court lacked authority to cancel it when it did. RCW 4.28.320.
- 5. Because VS Developing was substantially justified in filing the Lis Pendens, Respondents were entitled to no award of attorney's fees or costs under RCW 4.28.328(3).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE³

In June 2016, BRMK Priest Point, LLC ("Broadmark") approached Ms. Victoria Stelmakh and Mr. Valentin Stelmakh ("the Stelmakhs"), immigrants from Ukraine and governors of V.S Investment Assoc, LLC ("VS Investment"), with an offer to sell certain real property located at 2467 South College Street, Seattle, WA ("the Project"), which was largely undeveloped land. Alongside this offer, Broadmark extended a proposal to lend approximately \$1.8 million for the construction of commercial and residential units on the land. Broadmark's dealings were rife with deceit, however. Unbeknownst to the Stelmakhs, Broadmark misrepresented the condition and readiness of the Project. It was only much later that VS Investment discovered that Broadmark's assurances about the Project were false. Also, because Broadmark's loan was to be secured by the Project—and VS

³ Unless otherwise noted, the facts are taken from the First Verified Amended Complaint ("FAC"). *See* CP 385-437.

Investment was also making a substantial cash down payment—Broadmark assured the Stelmakhs that only \$200,000 of the loan amount would need to be further secured. To facilitate this, Broadmark actively pressured them into using their personal residence at 4415 Priest Point Dr NW, Tulalip, WA 98271 ("Subject Property") as collateral.

To execute this scheme, Broadmark demanded that the Stelmakhs form a "new single-purpose LLC" and transfer ownership of their personal residence into the LLC. CP at 405. Broadmark's email clearly reveals the manipulative intent behind this demand: "We cannot have our Borrower and Personal Guarantors as the same entity. Therefore, if [the Subject Property] is vested to you individually, we cannot write a loan on the property since you are our personal guarantor. We will need you to quit claim deed the property into a different entity other than you personally in order to use the property as additional collateral." *Id*. Under duress, and without representation or adequate understanding of technical

English, the Stelmakhs complied, quitclaiming the Subject Property to VS Developing—a single-purpose entity formed exclusively for this transaction and lacking any independent resources. Unbeknownst to the Stelmakhs, Broadmark's maneuver circumvented regulations governing the use of personal residences as collateral for commercial loans. This wrongful conduct deprived the Stelmakhs of significant legal protections, including Washington's homestead exemption, which safeguards homeowners in foreclosure scenarios.

It was not until later that the Stelmakhs discovered the full extent of Broadmark's misrepresentations. These undisclosed issues caused extensive delays, forcing VS Investment to incur significant costs to correct the defects. By the time the Project was completed, its market value had substantially diminished. VS Investment suffered severe financial losses because the Project could not command the anticipated sale price—or, had the truth been known, VS Investment would never simply have agreed to the purchase.

Amid these mounting challenges, the Stelmakhs were shocked to discover that Broadmark had fraudulently secured the entire \$1.8 million loan against their personal residence—far exceeding the agreed-upon \$200,000 limit. Their alarm is captured in an email sent to Broadmark (CP at 407):

"Good afternoon Bryan. Can you please explain why is there a lien against the Priest Point for \$1.8 million? I hope that's not accurate because that was not our agreement at all????"

Broadmark's misconduct ultimately drove VS Investment into bankruptcy. Even after the Project was sold, Broadmark claimed a remaining balance on the loan and initiated nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings against the Stelmakhs' home. On January 10, 2022, Broadmark appointed Hacker & Willig, Inc., P.S. ("H&W") as Successor Trustee under the Deed of Trust for the Subject Property. CP at 409. Then, on February 28, 2022, H&W recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale of Commercial Loan against the Stelmakhs' personal residence (CP at 412-418) and ultimately auctioned their home over their repeated objections. Overall,

Broadmark's deceptive practices, wrongful overcollateralization, and disregard for the rights of the Stelmakhs exemplify predatory conduct. These actions left the Stelmakhs financially devastated and stripped of the protections they were entitled to under the law.

On May 18, 2023, VS Developing filed a lawsuit against, challenging, *inter alia*, the foreclosure of the Subject Property as void. CP at 477-510. Because the lawsuit disputed the Subject Property's ownership, VS Developing also recorded a Lis Pendens against the property.

On May 31, 2023, Respondents filed a "Motion For Order To Remove Lis Pendens And Dismiss Claim For Quiet Title." CP at 226-234. On June 13, 2023, the trial court issued an order requiring the removal of the Lis Pendens—while all the claims were still actively pending. CP at 223-225. On June 16, 2023, the court dismissed all the claims. CP at 174.

VI. ARGUMENT FOR GRANTING REVIEW

A. Criteria for discretionary review.

The decision upends the DTA considering this Court's holdings that, in a nonjudicial foreclosure, given the lack of judicial oversight, the trustee shall undertake the role of a superior court judge as the impartial third party between the parties to the deed of trust, making it a three-party transaction. See Klem v. Washington Mut. Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771 (2013). As such, the decision is also contrary to Article I, section 3 of our state constitution's command that "[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." The decision further conflicts with prior Court of Appeals' decisions and other prior decisions of this Court, including Cox and its progeny, regarding the ability of a lawyer-trustee to serve both as trustee and as lawyer for the beneficiary under the deed of trust transaction as well as the application of waiver.

B. The Decision is not supported by Washington law.

When rendering its decision affirming the trial court's Order, the Court of Appeals erroneously found that the law did not prohibit counsel for the beneficiary from acting as trustee and that VS Developing waived its claims because it had failed to follow the statutory restraint procedure. This case is appropriate for review because it sets the standards for the role of the trustee who must undertake the position of the judge as an impartial third party in deed of trust foreclosures. Since the judiciary is not involved such foreclosures, only the words of the DTA itself stand between the borrower and the lender eager to foreclose. The decision dangerously erodes these protections by empowering lenders, irrespective of conflicts, to use their own attorneys—who owe the highest duty of loyalty and fidelity to their clients—as trustees. This practice circumvents the DTA's goals, strips borrowers of an impartial trustee, and paves the way for foreclosures that lack fairness, constitutional due process, and the rule of law. The decision leaves borrowers

unprotected, enabling lenders to foreclose on properties without the oversight or due process the DTA was designed to provide and opens a troubling door that undermines the DTA's intent and purpose. Washington law cannot allow a system where the rights of borrowers are rendered meaningless, and properties are taken without due process of law. The DTA's protections must have real force, or they fail to serve their purpose.

Accordingly, this Court's review is necessary to ensure that Washington's nonjudicial foreclosure process remains just, equitable, and consistent with due process and rule of law.

C. The *contested* Trustee's Sale is void.

1. The DTA framework: In a nonjudicial foreclosure, the trustee shall undertake the role of the superior court judge as an impartial and neutral third party.

Before 1965, Washington law recognized mortgages as the only security interest in real property in the state.⁴ As such, mortgages had to be foreclosed through the judicial process.

⁴ Brown v. Washington State Dep't of Commerce, 184 Wn.2d 509, 515 (2015).

Critically, "in a judicial foreclosure action, an <u>impartial judge</u> of the superior court acts as <u>the trustee</u>[.]"⁵ This is critical, in part, because borrowers can rely on the judiciary to prevent overreaching by lenders who make it their business to obtain every advantage from the foreclosure process.⁶

In 1965, the legislature "authorized nonjudicial foreclosure for the first time, subject to strict statutory requirements" when it enacted the DTA to "supplement[] the time-consuming judicial foreclosure procedure [for mortgages] by providing [an] alternative private sale which results in substantial savings of time." Under the DTA, "[a] deed of trust transaction is 'a *three-party transaction* in which the borrower (grantor) deeds the property to a trustee who holds the deed as

_

⁵ *Klem v. Washington Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 789 (2013) (citing RCW 61.12.040; RCW 4.12.010).

⁶ See RCW 61.12.

⁷ Brown, 184 Wn.2d at 515 (citing John A. Gose, *The Trust Deed Act in Washington*, 41 Wash. L. Rev. 94, 95-96 (1966) (footnotes omitted)); *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 788.

security for the lender (beneficiary) in return for the borrower having received a loan from the lender."8

As the purpose of a deed of trust is identical to that of a mortgage, the need for a trustee is primarily found in the nonjudicial foreclosure process available only for deeds of trust. The courts are a sufficient guardian of the borrower's rights when the courts must be used to foreclose those rights, as is the case with mortgage. But, when those rights may be foreclosed without judicial supervision in a nonjudicial foreclosure, judicial supervision in a nonjudicial foreclosure, a third-party trustee, with duties to both the grantor and beneficiary, is necessary. This Court has held that, in a nonjudicial foreclosure, "the trustee undertakes the role of the judge as an impartial third party who owes a duty to both parties

_

⁸ *Id*. (emphasis added).

⁹ Cox v. Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383 (1985).

¹⁰ *Id*.

to ensure that the rights of both the beneficiary and the debtor are protected."¹¹ As this Court has further observed:

"When secured by a deed of trust that grants the trustee the power of sale if the borrower defaults on repaying the underlying obligation, the trustee may usually foreclose the deed of trust and sell the property without judicial supervision....This is a significant power, and we have recently observed that "the [deed of trust] Act must be construed in favor of borrowers because of the relative ease with which lenders can forfeit borrowers' interests and the lack of judicial oversight in conducting nonjudicial foreclosure sales...Critically under our statutory system, a trustee is not merely an agent for the lender or the lender's successors. Trustees have obligations to all of the parties to the deed, including the homeowner. RCW 61.24.010(4)"¹²

In *Klem*, this Court also underscored the neutrality and impartiality of the trustee: "[t]he power to sell another person's property, often the family home itself, is a tremendous power to vest in anyone's hands. Our legislature has allowed that power to be placed in the hands of a private trustee, rather than a state

¹¹ *Renata v. Flagstar Bank, F.S.B.*, 189 Wn. App. 1004 (2015) (citing *Cox*, 103 Wn.2d at 389).

¹² *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d at 93.

officer, but common law and equity requires that trustee to be evenhanded to both sides and to strictly follow the law." 13

Further, this Court has emphatically emphasized the trustee's obligation to maintain a neutral and impartial stance: "[A]s a pragmatic matter, it is the lenders, the servicers, and their affiliates who appoint trustees. Trustees have considerable financial incentive to keep those appointing them happy and very little financial incentive to show the homeowners the same solicitude...[h]owever, despite these pragmatic considerations and incentives under our statutory system, a trustee is not merely an agent for the lender or the lender's successors. Trustees have obligations to all of the parties to the deed, including the homeowner."14 To adhere to this duty, the trustee shall, inter alia, remain impartial and protect the interests of all the parties"15; "take reasonable and appropriate steps to avoid

¹³ *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 789 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

¹⁴ *Id*. (internal citations omitted).

¹⁵ Trujillo v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc., 183 Wn.2d 820, 831 (2015).

sacrifice of the debtor's property and his interest" 16; not "defer] I to the lender on whether to postpone a foreclosure sale and thereby fail[] to exercise its independent discretion as an impartial third party"; 17 and strictly comply with the DTA. 18

Also, this Court has held that "the practice of a trustee in a nonjudicial foreclosure...failing to exercise its independent discretion as an impartial third party with duties to both parties is an unfair and deceptive act or practice" that "[b]ecause of the very nature of nonjudicial foreclosures, Washington courts have not shied away from protecting the rights of the parties" that if the trustee's actions are unlawful, the trustee's sale is void; and that Washington courts "have invalidated trustee"

1

¹⁶ Cox, 103 Wn.2d at 389 (citing McHugh v. Church, 583 P.2d 210, 214 (1978)).

¹⁷ Klem, 176 Wn.2d at 792.

¹⁸ Schroeder v. Excelsior Mgmt. Grp., LLC, 177 Wn.2d 94, 111–12 (2013) (citing Albice v. Premier Mortgage Servs. of Washington, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 568 (2012) (citing Udall, 159 Wn.2d at).

¹⁹ *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 792.

²⁰ *Id.* at 788.

²¹ Cox, 103 Wn.2d at 388–89.

sales that do not comply with the [DTA]."22 "Again, the trustee in a nonjudicial foreclosure action has been vested with incredible power. Concomitant with that power is an obligation to both sides to do more than merely follow an unread statute and the beneficiary's directions... If the trustee acts only at the direction of the beneficiary, then the trustee is a mere agent of the beneficiary and a deed of trust no longer embodies a threeparty transaction. If the trustee were truly a mere agent of the beneficiary there would be, in effect, only two parties with the beneficiary having tremendous power and no incentive to protect the statutory and constitutional property rights of the borrower."23 The decision below conflicts with this wellestablished case law: In a nonjudicial foreclosure, given the lack of judicial oversight, the trustee shall undertake the role of a judge as the impartial third party between the parties to the deed of trust, making it a three-party transaction; otherwise, the

²² Klem, 176 Wn.2d at 788 (citing Albice, 174 Wn.2d at 568).

²³ *Id.* at 791-92 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

DTA's protections evaporate in violation of article I, section 3 of our state constitution's command that "[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law."

2. By definition, a beneficiary's counsel acting as a fiduciary to the beneficiary cannot conduct the foreclosure, especially of a *contested* Trustee's Sale, as a neutral, impartial, and independent judicial substitute.

"A fiduciary relationship exists as a matter of law between an attorney and client, and the attorney owes the highest duty of fidelity and good faith to the client." The fiduciary duties arising from an attorney-client relationship are generally categorized as involving the duty of preserving confidences and of individual loyalty. Further, "[t]he relationship between lawyer and client is a fiduciary one in which the lawyer occupies the highest position of trust and confidence." [A]ttorneys owe an undivided duty of loyalty to the client." Additionally, under

²⁴ In re Larson, 103 Wn.2d 517, 520 (1985); see also Perez v. Pappas, 98 Wn.2d 835, 840–41 (1983).

²⁵ Mallen, 2 Legal Malpractice § 15:1 (2017 ed.).

²⁶ RPC 1.8 cmt. 17.

²⁷ Mazon v. Krafchick, 158 Wn.2d 440, 448–49 (2006).

the DTA, one of the trustee's statutory qualifications is that "[t]he trustee or successor trustee shall have no fiduciary duty or fiduciary obligation to the grantor or other persons having an interest in the property subject to the deed of trust."²⁸

Needless to say, no superior court judge in a judicial foreclosure action can have fiduciary duty or owe the highest duty of fidelity and individual loyalty to the plaintiff-lender seeking to judicially foreclose on the borrower's home. *Critically, to fulfil the goals of the DTA and to preserve the due process, nonjudicial foreclosures shall be no different.* In fact, judges must avoid both impropriety and the appearance of impropriety and to always aspire to conduct that ensures the greatest possible public confidence in their independence and impartiality, ²⁹³⁰ which the trustee lacks if the trustee also serves as legal counsel to the beneficiary. Having a trustee who owes the highest duty of fidelity to the lender alone not just creates the

²⁸ RCW 61.24.010(3) (Emphasis added).

²⁹ See, e.g., Code of Judicial Conduct, Rule 1.2.

appearance of impropriety, but also destroys the integrity of the DTA. A lender's counsel and fiduciary with the highest duty of fidelity and individual loyalty to the lender cannot fulfill the role of what would be the equivalent of a superior court judge in a judicial foreclosure action; serve as a guardian of the borrower's rights when the lender chooses to foreclose nonjudicially; take reasonable and appropriate steps to avoid sacrifice of the borrower's home; be evenhanded to both sides; and otherwise serve as a neutral, independent, and impartial third party between the lender or beneficiary and the borrower, especially in a *contested* nonjudicial foreclosure to which the borrower objects.

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