FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/20/2024 2:22 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## Supreme Court No. 1036361 Court of Appeals No. 854356 – Division I

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VS DEVELOPING, LLC,

Petitioner,

V.

BRMK PRIEST POINT, LLC, ET AL.,

Respondents.

# RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Arnold M. Willig, WSBA #20104
Elizabeth H. Shea, WSBA #27189
Charles L. Butler, III, WSBA #36893
Attorneys for Respondents
HACKER & WILLIG, INC., P.S.
1215 Fourth Avenue, Suite 910
Seattle, Washington 98161
T: (206) 340-1935

##

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

BRMK has all the enumerated rights and remedies under the Deed of Trust, including nonjudicial foreclosure. *See*,

Respondents' Brief, Appendix B, Deed of Trust. BRMK is entitled to all of its attorneys' fees and costs herein to enforce the terms of the Loan Documents and seek repayment. CP 148-149.

In the end, following obligors' undisputed loan default,

BRMK exercised its rights against its collateral by contract and

by statute, and the result here is supported by well-settled law in Washington. On this record, the Stelmakhs are borne out as vexatious litigants. The rule of law in this State holds that an attorney for a lender may serve as successor trustee and foreclosing trustee. Petitioner has not offered any legitimate basis upon which the decisions and judgments of the trial court and of the Court of Appeals should be disrupted. Further, Petitioner has not set forth any basis upon which this Court should accept review here.

Accordingly, this Court is respectfully requested to deny the Petition for Review.

#### VI. LEGAL AUTHORITY & ARGUMENT

It is Petitioner's substantial burden under Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 13.4(b) to show the following:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the

petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (West 2024 ed.).

For the reasons set forth herein, Petitioner has not met its burden here

Petitioner's lead argument begins with its citation to *Klem v*. *Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 774, 295 P.3d 1179, 1181 (2013), the facts of which case are glaringly dissimilar from the instant case. In *Klem*, the borrower (an individual) had passed away, and the foreclosing trustee was aware of a signed purchase and sale agreement between the estate and a qualified buyer that would have paid nearly three times the debt owed to the foreclosing lender. *Id.* Instead, the foreclosing trustee refused to continue the sale and sold the property for a *de minimis* amount to a third-party bidder for one dollar more than the borrower owed to the lender. *Id.* 

In *Klem*, the beneficiary's guardian's efforts to contact the lender and the trustee were ignored, the jury found that the

successor trustee was negligent in the conduct of the nonjudicial foreclosure, and the real property at issue had significant equity available to the beneficiary. *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 775.

Here, the commercial loan context is vastly dissimilar from a consumer loan transaction. In fact, the Deed of Trust Act clarifies its application to commercial loans throughout the statutes. *E.g.*, RCW 61.24.005(4). The Priest Point Property was not VS Developing's residence, but rather it was where the LLC's principal persons resided rent free from the entity. Also, here, the grantor and its principals were sophisticated real estate developers with multiple commercial development projects active with multiple commercial lenders in the Puget Sound region.

Perhaps the most distinguishing factor is the actual conduct of the trustee's sale here as opposed to the foreclosure in in *Klem*: there, the Notice of Sale appeared to be back-dated and the trustee admitted to following the lender's instructions without exercising its own independent judgment. *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 774. Here, there were no defects in the sale process and none were ever raised

during the course of Petitioner's successive bankruptcy filings (and dismissals). The receivership proceedings involving related entity VS Investment began in January 2020, and the Trustee's Sale here occurred in August 2022, over two and a half years later. After their unsuccessful bankruptcy filings, Petitioner had years to consider voluntarily selling the property to repay BRMK, and they chose not to do so.

Petitioner also claims that the Opinion violates Article I,
Section 3 of the Washington State Constitution, regarding personal
rights, such that "[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or
property, without due process of law." Constitution of the
State of Washington, Article 1, Section 3, West 2024 ed.
However, Petitioner does not state with any specificity how exactly
the Opinion violates the Washington Constitution. As in the Court
of Appeals, Petitioner does not offer any legal authority here to
support its argument sounding in Washington constitutional law.

As the Opinion states, "[P]arties raising constitutional issues

must present considered arguments to this court." *City of Tacoma* v. *Price*, 137 Wn. App. 187, 200, 152 P.3d 357 (2007). "[N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." *Id.* (alteration in original) (quoting, State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992)).

Additionally, Petitioner states that the Opinion conflicts with Cox v. Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383, 693 P.2d 683 (1985). In fact, Petitioner cites to Cox over a dozen times in its Petition for Review. Yet, as this Court is aware, the primary point in Cox argued by Petitioner has been superseded by statute. Prior to June 12, 2008, this Court had held that:

[A] trustee of a deed of trust is a fiduciary for both the mortgagee and mortgagor and must act impartially between them. The trustee is bound by [their] office to present the sale under every possible advantage to the debtor as well as to the creditor. [They are] bound to use not only good faith but also every requisite degree of diligence in conducting the sale and to attend equally to the interest of the debtor and creditor alike.

Cox, 103 Wn.2d at 389 (internal citations omitted).

However, the Washington State Legislature amended the Deed of Trust Act in 2008. Now, a trustee "shall have no fiduciary duty or fiduciary obligation to . . . persons having an interest in the property" but shall have "a duty of good faith to the borrower, beneficiary, and grantor." Wash. Rev. Code § 61.24.010.

This subsection [RCW 61.24.010(3)] became effective on June 12, 2008, and was intended to address the very ambiguities that Petitioner is attempting to amplify here. *See*, Wn. Senate Bill Report, 2008 Reg. Sess. S.B. 5378 (Feb. 9, 2008); Wn. House Rep. Bill Report, 2008 Reg. Sess. S.B. 5378 (March 6, 2008).

Naturally, the Opinion cited compelling and current legal authority, which included the portions of *Cox* that have not been expressly overruled or later superseded by statute.

For the reasons set forth herein, and under the legal authority cited, Petitioner has not met its burden to show that the Opinion is in conflict with other legal authority of the Courts of this State; that a significant, unsettled constitutional question is presented here; or that issues of substantial public interest weigh in Petitioner's favor.

Quite the contrary, there is a continuing and compelling need in Washington, throughout the banking industry, to further the general intent of the Deed of Trust Act: that nonjudicial foreclosures be efficient and inexpensive. The Petition for Review should be denied at this time.

#### A. Counsel for Beneficiary May Serve as Trustee.

Petitioner has continually and blindly argued that counsel for a secured creditor may not act as a successor trustee, and the trial court and Court of Appeals have rejected all such arguments.

While Petitioner may be hoping for a significant change in the long-standing law of this State for their own personal benefit,

Petitioner attempts to offer these arguments as reasonable extensions of existing case law, which they are not. The Opinion accepted Respondents' citation to, and cited further analogous legal authority regarding, the history and changes made to the Deed of Trust Act over the years. *See*, Opinion, pgs. 12-15.

Respondents' Brief also contained a citation to *Cascade Manor Assocs. v. Witherspoon*, 69 Wn.App. 923, 934 (1993),

which was also referenced at length by the Court of Appeals. *See*, **Appendix B**, pgs. 22-27.

Petitioner has failed in the trial court and in the Court of Appeals to offer any evidence that there was an actual conflict of interest present as to the Trustee's Sale here. *See*, Opinion, pg. 14. Rather, Petitioner and its principal, along with their attorney, were present at the Trustee's Sale and raised not a single objection. In fact, Petitioner was represented by multiple attorneys during the course of its insolvency proceedings and on the sale date.

Respondent Trustee acted in good faith in conducting the Trustee's Sale and no lawsuit challenging its services was filed prior to the sale.

Petitioner offers extensive extraneous authority regarding the lawyer/client relationship. *See*, Petition for Review, pgs. 18-21. But, Petitioner does not couple those citations to the present case by way of any applicable authority from this Court in the nonjudicial foreclosure/Deed of Trust Act context. Nor does Petitioner show that an actual conflict of interest was present here.

The applicable legal authority cited that upholds a creditor's attorney serving as successor trustee is well settled, well-reasoned, and has been relied upon by every party in countless trustee's sales over the decades since the Deed of Trust Act was passed and amended. It should remain the law of our State.

#### B. Petitioner Has Waived its Claims Here.

Petitioner's arguments should have been brought and considered within the statutory parameters for filing a complaint for restraint of the trustee's sale. RCW 61.24.130(2). Here, Petitioner's complaint was filed long after the trustee's sale was completed, the property went back to BRMK as credit bidder at the sale, the Stelmakhs had been removed from the property by the Snohomish County Sheriff's Office, and Broadmark had spent months and hundreds of thousands of dollars to refurbish and restore the property.

The operative statute, RCW 61.24.130(2) provides:

No court may grant a restraining order or injunction to restrain a trustee's sale unless the person seeking the restraint gives five days notice

to the trustee of the time when, place where, and the judge before whom the application for the restraining order or injunction is to be made. This notice shall include copies of all pleadings and related documents to be given to the judge. No judge may act upon such application unless it is accompanied by proof, evidenced by return of a sheriff, the sheriff's deputy, or by any person eighteen years of age or over who is competent to be a witness, that the notice has been served on the trustee.

RCW 61.24.130(2) (West 2024 ed.).

Here, Petitioner and its principals have been represented by counsel throughout this matter since 2020, through today, and on the Trustee's Sale date in August 2022.

This was a commercial loan secured by property owned by Petitioner, an LLC and an affiliate entity of the borrower, VS Investment. CP 443. Petitioner was the grantor on the deed of trust that was foreclosed. *Id.* Petitioner attempts to blur these lines by falsely stating that "the Stelmakhs did not bring a motion for a temporary restraining order [because] they ultimately lacked adequate opportunity to seek presale remedies to prevent the foreclosure of their home[.]" Petition, pg. 25. Petitioner, VS

Developing, had every opportunity to negotiate and liquidate the property in repayment of Respondent BRMK prior to the trustee's sale.

Petitioner leads with *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. of*Wash., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 563, 276 P.3d 1277, 1279 (2012). In

Albice, the foreclosing trustee continued the sale date beyond the maximum postponement date, and the lender was accepting late payments monthly from the defaulted borrower throughout the foreclosure process leading up to the sale. Id. at 564. These are serious procedural irregularities with the trustee's sale process, and would indeed divest the trustee of its statutory authority to sell the property. Albice, 174 Wn.2d at 567; Udall v. T.D. Escrow Servs.,

Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, 911, 154 P.3d 882, 887 (2007).

Here, no such procedural irregularities existed with respect to the nonjudicial foreclosure process, nor has Petitioner argued or offered any evidence as to same.

The remainder of Respondents' arguments and authority regarding waiver are set forth in Respondents' Brief [see,

**Appendix B**, pgs. 27-36] and in the Opinion [see, Opinion, pgs. 9-11].

Petitioner has not cited any controlling authority to the contrary that is on point to the facts of this case.

# C. Respondents Availed Themselves of the Full Benefits and Protections of the *Lis Pendens* Statutes.

In light of the clarity in the lower courts' orders and findings here, all of which were entered with a full opportunity afforded to Petitioner to put forth any and all documentary evidence in the court record, Petitioner's claims in the trial court were "discontinued or abated" at the time the *lis pendens* was removed.

Petitioner cites to *Guest v. Lange* out of Division Two, which again is factually distinguishable from the present case. In *Guest*, the property owners had appealed, filed their supersedeas bond under RAP 8.1(b) and (c), and stayed enforcement of the judgment, and only then was the *lis pendens* removed. *Guest v. Lange*, 195 Wn. App. 330, 331, 381 P.3d 130, 132 (2016). Here, Petitioner took no such action to stay the matter pending appeal,

and no supersedeas bond was file. Therefore, the trial court was convinced, and properly so, that the *lis pendens* was filed by Petitioner without any substantial justification. CP 223.

Petitioner also rehashes its argument below that attorneys' fees should somehow be denied to Respondents, the prevailing party, under RCW 4.28.328(3). This statute provides: "Unless the claimant establishes a substantial justification for filing the lis pendens," the party filing the lis pendens "is liable to an aggrieved party . . . for actual damages . . . and in the court's discretion, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred in defending the action." *Id.* That standard is met here.

Petitioner can no longer argue that it "has established the requisite substantial justification for filing of the Lis Pendens" when the trial court and the Court of Appeals has found to the contrary, that these arguments by Petitioner are "baseless." In light of the trial court's finding that "there was no legal basis, justification, or substantial justification per RCW 4.28.328(3) for the filing of the *lis pendens*[,]" removal of the *lis pendens* and

award of attorneys' fees and costs thereon was the correct result.

#### VII. CONCLUSION

Petitioner's unyielding and single-minded theory of the case appears to be an argument for sweeping and broad changes to existing law in order to prohibit, prospectively, lenders' attorneys from serving as successor trustees in overseeing nonjudicial foreclosures in this State. Petitioner's perspective is a minority and self-serving view, and it simply is not the law in Washington, nor should it be.

Originally, the Deed of Trust Act was enacted to modernize and streamline the mortgage foreclosure process in Washington in a way that is consistent "with the needs of modern real estate financing." John A. Gose, THE TRUST DEED ACT IN WASHINGTON, 41 Wash. L. Rev. 94 (1966). Petitioner has also cited to this article, which, though it relates to a prior version of the Deed of Trust Act, remains instructive. In order to avail itself of the statute, the secured party gives up certain important rights in avoiding "the time-consuming judicial

foreclosure procedure . . . which results in a substantial savings of time." *Id*.

In the end, Petitioner's arguments do not find support in the Washington Constitution, this Court's prior opinions, or in the arena of public interest. Petitioner has not met its burden to show that the long-standing law of this State should be disrupted as Petitioner suggests, now would there be any substantial public interest in doing so. Petitioner has not shown that there were any irregularities with the foreclosure sale, or that there was any conflict of interest in the trustee's sale process here.

Wherefore, the Petition for Review should be denied. It is hereby certified that this Answer of Respondent to Petition for Review contains 4,998 words pursuant to RAP 18.17(c)(10).